RECEIVED 10-04-2012 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Case No.: 2012AP001137 CR

EUGENE L. CHERRY,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

APPEALED FROM WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH 3 TRIAL COURT CASE NO. 2010CF000463 HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS PRESIDING

> BY: Attorney Daniel P. Murray 324 W. Broadway Waukesha, Wisconsin 53186 State Bar No: 1014129 COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

3.	Statement of Issuesiii
4.	Statement on Oral Argumentiv
5.	Statement on Publicationiv
6.	Statement of the Case1
7.	Statement of the Facts1
8.	Argument
	I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT- APPELLANTS MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE FOLLOWING WARRANTLESS ARREST AND SEARCH
9.	Conclusion10
10.	Index to Appendix11
11	Certification 12

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES CITED

1.	Hoyer v. State, 193 N.W. 89,
	(1928)6
2.	Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. U.S., 251
	U.S. 385(1920)6
3.	Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968)
4.	Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S.
	567, (1988)7
5.	United States v. Vargas, 369 F.3d 98
	(2004)7
6.	United States v. Hoyos, 892 F.2d
	1287, 1392 (1989)8
7.	United States v. Packer, 15 F.3d 654
	(1994)8
8.	Gentry v. Sevier, 597 F.3d 838,
	(2010)8
	STATUTES CITED
	Sec. 943.10.10(1m)(a) Wis. Stats1
	Sec. 943.01(1) Wis. Stats1
	500. > 15.01(1) 11.15. 5000 11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.11.

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT-APPELLANTS MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE DISCOVERED FOLLOWING WARRANTLESS ARREST AND SEARCH?

The Trial Court answered:

No.

The Respondent would answer:

No.

Appellant states:

Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant, Eugene L. Cherry, does not request oral argument in this appeal. The issue on this appeal is clear, and may be fully addressed through briefs of the parties.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-Appellant, Eugene L. Cherry, does not request publication of this decision in that the issue presented does not create new issues of law or involve areas of appellant procedure.

STATEMENT ON THE CASE

This appeal stems from the Judgment of Conviction in favor of the plaintiff, State of Wisconsin, and against the defendant, Eugene L. Cherry entered on the 5th day of October, 2011 and adjudging the Defendant-Appellant, Eugene L. Cherry guilty of one count of burglary, contrary to sec. 943.10.10(1m)(a) Wis. Stats and one count of Criminal Damage to Property, contrary to Wis. Stats. sec. 943.01(1). (Record on Appeal 69 and 70-1 to 70-3). It is based on the Trial Court's decision and Order denying Defendant-Appellant's Motion to Suppress Evidence Derived from Unlawful Stop, Unlawful Arrest, Unlawful Detention and Unlawful Search filed on March 25, 2011 and heard by the Court on May 5, 2011 (Record on Appeal 22-1 to 22-3). For purposes of this appeal, Defendant-Appellant, Eugene L. Cherry, will hereinafter be referred to as "Cherry" and Plaintiff-Respondent, State of Wisconsin, will hereinafter be referred to as "State".

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 30, 2010, the State caused to be filed a criminal complaint charging Cherry with one (1) count of burglary of a building or dwelling, as party to a crime and one count of criminal damage to property, also as a party to a crime. (Record on Appeal 1-1 to 1-7). Cherry appeared for the Initial Appearance on the same date that the complaint was filed. The Court found probable cause on the complaint and set bail in the amount of \$2,500.00 cash, which Cherry was unable to post (Record on Appeal at 5-1). The matter was continued for a Preliminary Hearing.

The hearing on Defendant-Appellant's Motion to Suppress Evidence Derived from Unlawful Stop, Unlawful Arrest, Unlawful Detention and Unlawful Search was held on May 5, 2011. Washington County Deputy Sheriff Ronald Rewerts testified that he received information from an eyewitness that there was a suspicious vehicle in their neighbor's driveway and some suspicious persons on the scene (Record on Appeal at 26-6). Deputy Sheriff Rewerts testified that when he arrived at the location he spoke with a female occupant of tan automobile who indicated that she had been accompanied to the location by two black males who were no longer in evidence (Record on Appeal at 26-7). Deputy Sheriff Rewarts observed that the residence appeared to have been broken into, basing this conclusion on physical damage to the door frame and the actual mechanism of the door (Record on Appeal at 26-9). Once the homeowner was located and informed of the suspected burglary to his residence, he informed police that he had firearms located in an unlocked gun case in the basement of the residence (Record on Appeal at 26-10). At this point, Deputy Sheriff Rewarts testified that a call to dispatch by a civilian witness came through to report two "suspicious males", a black man and a Hispanic man, had been observed walking in the vicinity of Wildlife Road (Record on Appeal 26-17 to 26-18).

Following Deputy Sheriff Rewarts' testimony Detective James Wolf took the stand (Record on Appeal at 26-18). Detective Wolf testified that police were unsure if the burglary suspects were inside the residence or if they had fled out the back of the house (Record on Appeal at 26-21). Detective Wolf then informed the Court that officers then received another call from an eyewitness who spotted two males walking in the vicinity of Wildlife Drive(Record on Appeal at 26-26). He stated the two individuals were described only as a "black man and a Hispanic man" (Id). He stated of his personal knowledge that the area in which they were reported to have been observed was about a mile from the crime scene (Record on Appeal at 26-27). At that point, Detective Wolf headed toward Wildlife Drive along with other officers, where two men were spotted walking along Wildlife Drive (Id).

According to Detective Wolf, Lieutenant Theusch and Sergeant Cummings from the Hartford Police Department had

accompanied him in a separate vehicle to Wildlife Drive (Record on Appeal at 26-30). Upon seeing the two males the fully uniformed and armed officers got out of their cars, all pointing their weapons at the two individuals. Lieutenant Theuseh ordered the suspects to stop and get on the ground (Id). Both of the men complied with the officers' orders. Detective Wolf then approached Cherry on the ground, placed him in handcuffs and patted him down for weapons. No weapons were found. Cherry was then placed in the back seat of a squad car (Record on Appeal 26-30 to 26-31). The same was done with the other suspect by Sergeant Cummings (Record on Appeal 26-30 to 26-31). It was only at this point that officers contacted Detective Abbott, who had remained at the scene of the suspected burglary, to receive additional information, including, ironically, a detailed description of the two men that had accompanied the female that had been found on the scene. (Record on Appeal at 26-31).

The description provided by Detective Abbott to detective Wolff was that of a 35 year old male, five foot six, around 150 pounds, black male wearing black jacket and black pants and another individual who was a six foot, 200 pound black male, wearing a black jacket and black jogging pants. (Record on Appeal at 26-31). Based on this description Detective Wolff concluded police had arrested the correct individuals (Record on Appeal at 26-32). While on the witness stand, Detective Wolff was questioned about the fact that the original description indicated only that it was a black male and a Hispanic male involved in the suspected burglary. He opined that Cherry was a light skinned black male and therefore assumed a witness could confuse him with being Hispanic. (Record on Appeal at 26-40).

Detective Wolff also testified that both Cherry's and the codefendant's pants appeared wet and muddied when the officers ordered them to get on the ground (Record on Appeal at 26-28). Detective Wolf was questioned about the demographics of Washington County and whether that played a role in their stopping and arresting of Cherry and his black codefendant (Record on Appeal at 26-36). He, at least

implicitly, acknowledged it did. (Record on Appeal 26-28 to 26-29)

Once the description from Detective Abbot was received by Detective Wolff on the scene of the arrest, Cherry and his codefendant were taken to the Sherriff's Department in West Bend where Detective Wolf attempted to interview them and they were searched (Record on Appeal at 26-32). Detective Wolff interviewed and searched the codefendant while Sergeant Boudry was interviewing and had searched Cherry (Record on Appeal at 26-33). Cherry was found to have a large amount of coins on him, including half dollars and some foreign coins; he also had a "cubic zirconia-type stone" and a band like a ring on him (Id).

At the conclusion of testimony, the State argued that Cherry had not been arrested until after verification of the full description of the suspects had been received from Detective Abbott. However, pursuant to the testimony of the State's own sworn officers/witnesses, receipt of that description did not occur until after Cherry had been stopped at gunpoint, ordered face-down to the ground in the gravel siding of a rural country road, and handcuffed and placed in the squad car (Record on Appeal 26-45 to 26-46). The State also alleged that the initial identifier of the two suspects, consisting solely (and inaccurately) of their race, combined with the possibility of weapons being stolen to constituted probable cause for the arrest of Cherry (Record on Appeal at 26-46).

The defense responded that the arrest occurred much earlier and that there was no evidence at the time to indicate that either Cherry or his counterpart were responsible for the burglary or any of the damage caused at the residence with the suspected break in (Record on Appeal at 26-47). Cherry and his codefendant had cooperated with the police and complied with all requests from the officers (Record on Appeal at 26-34). The defense asked for suppression of the evidence recovered at the police station due to the fact that it had come from an illegal arrest and therefore illegal search (Record on Appeal at 26-48).

The Trial Court, Honorable Todd K. Martens, presiding

orally denied the suppression of evidence recovered after arrest and search following the presentation of testimony and evidence and the arguments of counsel (Record on Appeal 26-52 to 26-62).

Cherry subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal and it is from the Court's denial of that Motion that this appeal is being taken.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE DISCOVERED FOLLOWING WARRANTLESS ARREST AND SEARCH.

When a search is conducted without a warrant and not incident to a lawful arrest, all evidence recovered in the search shall be inadmissible under the exclusionary rule. The exclusionary rule was derived from the Fourth Amendment and adopted by Wisconsin in Hoyer v. State, 193 N.W. 89 (1928). The rule states that any evidence collected in violation of an individual's constitutional rights are inadmissible. When an illegal action is used to recover the evidence, it is deemed "fruit of the poisonous tree" unless the discovery was inevitable and not dependant on the search itself. Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. U.S., 251 U.S. 385 (1920).

A search of a person may occur, and evidence may be seized, when the search is made incident to a lawful arrest, with consent, pursuant to a valid search warrant, within the authority and scope of a lawful inspection, pursuant to a search during an authorized temporary questioning, and as otherwise authorized by law. (Wis. Stat. sec. 968.10) Temporary questioning occurs when an officer has stopped a person and reasonably suspects he or she may in danger of physical injury and they may search for weapons or anything capable of being used as a weapon. (Wis. Stat. sec. 968.25) However, the scope of a search of that nature cannot extend past checking the suspect for weapons and once it is discovered that the individual is not armed the police may not search further.

When police conclude that an individual may have committed a crime or may be about to commit a crime, and there is probable cause that they are armed and dangerous, they may conduct what has come to be denominated a "Terry Stop" under the United States Supreme Court case of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). Terry stops allow the police to stop the individual and pat them down to ensure that they do not present a danger to the officers or to the public. It is abundantly clear that this is not what occurred in this circumstance, even if it could be credibly argued that officers possessed sufficient information to formulate a reasonable and articulable basis for such a stop. A Terry stop does not allow armed officers to approach the suspects from behind with weapons drawn, order the individual to the ground and proceed to handcuff them and place them into police cars. A Terry Stop also would not permit police to forcibly handle the suspect, search their person for anything beyond weapons, or arrest the individual without probable cause. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

The Mendenhall test sets forth the standard which is used by the Court to determine whether an individual is under arrest. That test states:

(A person is under arrest) "(o)nly if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave" Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567 (1988)

For the Court to determine whether police initially conducted a terry stop or a full blown arrest the Court must look at the following factors:

"the amount of force used by police, the need for force, the extent to which an individual's freedom of movement was restrained, and in particular, such factors as the number of agents involved, whether the target of the stop was suspected of being armed, the duration of the stop, and the physical treatment of the suspect and whether or not handcuffs were used" U.S. v. Vargas, 369 F.3d 98, 101 (2004).

The standard for an arrest to occur without a warrant requires one of the following factors to be present: the

police must witness the suspect committing a crime, a reliable informant must provide information to the police regarding a felony that has been committed, the time taken to obtain a warrant would allow the suspect to either escape or destroy evidence, or the police must have probable cause. Probable cause exists when "the facts and circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge are sufficient to warrant a prudent person to believe that a suspect has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime". United States v. Hoyos, 892 F.2d 1287, 1392 (1989)

For a person to believe that a suspect has committed a crime without evidence or eyewitness testimony identifying the suspect, the suspected individual should fit the description of a "suspicious person" <u>United States v. Packer</u>, 15 F.3d 654 (1994). The Court ruled that a phone call to the police describing a "suspicious person" (without any other details or description given) does not generate reasonable suspicion to warrant a stop and consequently an arrest. <u>Gentry v. Sevier</u>, 597 F.3d 838 (2010). When the defendant cooperates with the police and is not caught in the act of something suspicious and does not attempt to flee when the police approach them there leads to less of a cause for reasonable suspicion.

Cherry was merely walking down the road when stopped at gunpoint by numerous armed police. He fully complied with the police's orders. Upon pat down by officers, no weapons of any sort or type were discovered. He was not, simply put, engaging in any suspicious activity at the time of the stop by the police and he did not respond in a suspicious manner when stopped.

Applying the rationale which the trial Court used in denying his motion by finding probable cause to arrest and search Cherry in this case, any black men (or Hispanic men) discovered within a walking radius of the suspected burglarized home in Washington County can and should have been arrested. The utter lack of suspicious activity or

identifying attributes other than the color of their skin leads to the irrefutable conclusion that the warrantless arrest and subsequent search were not legal.

The moment Cherry was ordered at gunpoint by several armed SWAT officers to lay face-down on the gravel shoulder of a rural Washington County roadway, it was rendered patently unreasonable for any person to believe that he was free to leave. There is no way to interpret these actions as anything other than a detention and an arrest. This arrest occurred at a time that the only information that was in the possession of the officers was that of the suspects' race (albeit slightly wrong) and before the officers called for any further description. It occurred without a warrant and without probable cause based upon the fact that he was engaging in no suspicious behavior at the time of the arrest and was identified by his race alone. The search incident to arrest at the police station must also be found to be illegal as it was not accomplished following a lawful arrest. Anything recovered during the search must be suppressed as it was discovered incident to an unlawful arrest.

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court erred in denying Cherry's Motion to Suppress Evidence Derived from Unlawful Stop, Unlawful Arrest, Unlawful Detention and Unlawful Search filed on March 25, 2011. Because the Trial Court committed reversible error in this instance, Cherry is entitled to have the evidence suppressed and a retrial.