### **RECEIVED**

12-21-2012

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

**DISTRICT II** 

Case No. 2012AP1137-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

EUGENE L. CHERRY,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

JACOB J. WITTWER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041288

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As respondent, the State exercises its option not to present a full statement of the case. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a)2. Defendant-appellant Cherry's recitation of the facts is largely accurate but incomplete. The relevant facts, including those not provided in Cherry's brief, will be presented in Section C. of the Argument to follow.

### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED CHERRY'S SUPPRESSION MOTION.

#### A. Introduction.

On appeal, Cherry challenges the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress evidence obtained following his warrantless detention by officers. As best the State can determine, Cherry appears to make the following arguments in the final three paragraphs of the Argument section of his brief: (1) law enforcement officers lacked reasonable suspicion to stop Cherry as he was "merely walking down the road" and not "engaging in any suspicious activity" (Cherry's br. at 8); (2) even if officers had reasonable suspicion to stop Cherry, the show of force by officers transformed the stop into an arrest that was not supported by probable cause (Cherry's br. at 9); and (3) officers stopped and arrested Cherry and his codefendant, Steven Turner, based on the suspects' race alone (Cherry's br. at 8-9). As developed in Section C. of this brief, the State addresses these arguments as follows.

First, officers had probable cause to arrest Cherry for the burglary based on the objective facts known to them at the time they made contact with Cherry and Turner. These objective facts demonstrate that Cherry was not detained because of his race.

Second, alternatively, even if officers initially lacked probable cause to arrest, they had reasonable

suspicion to stop and temporarily detain Cherry at the time. The manner in which they executed the stop was reasonable under the circumstances, and did not transform the temporary stop into an arrest. Almost immediately thereafter, and before the suspects were transported from the scene, the reasonable suspicion justifying the stop ripened into probable cause to arrest when officers received a matching, detailed description of the suspects.

## B. General Legal Principles and Standard of Review.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee Wisconsin citizens freedom from unreasonable searches and seizures. When a police seizure of a person occurs in a public place, the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment does not apply. See State v. Ferguson, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 17, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187; State v. Griffith, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 26, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 613 N.W.2d 72. Such an action is evaluated under the Fourth Amendment's general prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures. Griffith, 236 Wis. 2d 48, ¶ 26.

To pass the constitutional test of reasonableness, an arrest must be based on probable cause. See State v. Secrist, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 208-09, 212, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999). Probable cause to arrest is the quantum of evidence known to police at the time of arrest "which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed or was committing a crime." Id. at 212. Probable cause does not mean "more probable than not" and will be found where the information could "lead a reasonable police officer to believe that guilt is more than a possibility." State v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As a general rule, the Wisconsin Supreme Court's interpretation of Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution conforms with the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Ferguson*, 2009 WI 50, ¶ 17, 317 Wis. 2d 586, 767 N.W.2d 187.

*Koch*, 175 Wis. 2d 684, 701, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993) (citation omitted).

When probable cause does not exist for an arrest, police may nonetheless make a temporary investigative stop of a person pursuant to Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), if they have reasonable suspicion grounded in specific, articulable facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts that the individual is committing, has committed or is about to commit an offense.<sup>2</sup> See State v. Guzy, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 675, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987). "Reasonable suspicion" is more than a hunch, but it is "a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence." Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123-24 A Terry stop is a "seizure" for Fourth (2000).Amendment purposes. See State v. Young, 2006 WI 98, ¶¶ 18, 20, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729.

For a *Terry* stop to be reasonable, the duration and intrusiveness of the stop must be reasonable under the circumstances. *See State v. McGill*, 2000 WI 38, ¶¶ 38-39, 234 Wis. 2d 560, 609 N.W.2d 795; *State v. Morgan*, 2002 WI App 124, ¶ 14, 254 Wis. 2d 602, 648 N.W.2d 23. A temporary investigatory stop should last "no longer than is necessary to effect the purpose of the stop." *State v. Gruen*, 218 Wis. 2d 581, 590, 582 N.W.2d 728 (Ct. App. 1998) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). The use of handcuffs or other restrictive measures do not necessarily render a temporary detention unreasonable. *See State v. Vorburger*, 2002 WI 105, ¶ 64, 255 Wis. 2d 537, 648 N.W.2d 829; *McGill*, 234 Wis. 2d 560, ¶¶ 38-39; *State v. Guy*, 172 Wis. 2d 86, 96-97, 492 N.W.2d 311 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Contrary to Cherry's unusual suggestion, a *Terry* stop does not also require "probable cause that [the person is] armed and dangerous" (Cherry's br. at 6). *See Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19-27 (1968); *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 138-139, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990).

Probable cause and reasonable suspicion are "objective" standards, and are measured by the totality of the circumstances within the officer's knowledge at the time. See Koch, 175 Wis. 2d at 701; State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 139, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990). An arrest or temporary investigative stop may be based on facts not directly observed by officers on the scene but known within the police department. State v. Rissley, 2012 WI App 112, ¶ 19, 344 Wis. 2d 422, \_\_\_ N.W.2d . "[U]nder the collective knowledge doctrine, the police force is considered as a unit and where there is police-channel communication to the arresting [or investigating] officer and he acts in good faith thereon, the arrest [or stop] is based on probable cause when such facts exist within the police department." *Id.* (internal quotations marks omitted).

When reviewing an order granting or denying a suppression motion, this court must uphold the circuit court's findings of historical and evidentiary fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 18, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. The determination of probable cause to arrest or reasonable suspicion for a temporary investigative stop is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *Id. State v. Kasian*, 207 Wis. 2d 611, 621, 558 N.W.2d 687 (Ct. App. 1996).

- C. The Officers' Detention of Cherry was Reasonable.
  - 1. The Facts and the Circuit Court's Ruling.

At the suppression hearing, the State called two witnesses, Washington County Sheriff's Deputy Ronald Rewerts and Sheriff's Detective James Wolf (26:4; 18-19). Cherry did not call any witnesses.

### Hearing Testimony

Deputy Rewerts testified as follows at the hearing. On November 29, 2010, the deputy was on patrol when he

received a dispatch call at 11:13 a.m. regarding a report of suspicious activity at a residence on County Highway W in the Town of Addison (26:5-6). A neighbor had observed that a suspicious car had backed into the driveway of the residence, and two black males had got out and gone behind the residence (26:7). A female had remained in the car (26:7).

The deputy arrived at the residence, and noticed the car backed into the driveway, its trunk left partially open, and a woman sitting in the car (26:8). The deputy made contact with the woman, who confirmed that the other suspects had gone to the back of the residence (26:8-9). The deputy went behind the house and observed that the rear door to the garage "had been forcibly opened with substantial physical damage to the door frame" and door mechanism, parts of which were strewn about on the concrete patio behind the garage (26:9). The deputy learned from dispatch that the property owner had been contacted, and had told police that there were firearms in an unlocked case in the basement of the residence (26:10). The deputy did not know at the time whether the suspects were still inside, or if they had exited the house (26:15-16).

Detective Wolf testified as follows. At around noon on November 29, 2010, the detective responded to a radio call about a burglary in progress at a residence on Highway W in the Town of Addison. The detective drove his unmarked minivan to a set of railroad tracks east of the residence because he believed, based on his experience as an officer, that the suspects probably fled the scene when the police arrived (26:20-23). Having grown up in the area, the detective was familiar with the local topography, and believed the suspects may have escaped into a wooded, swampy area to the east of the residence (26:20-24). From his squad computer, the detective learned of the initial citizen call about the suspicious car, and the presence of two black males behind the residence (26:22). The detective also learned that there were unsecured firearms in the residence (26:25).

A radio call informed all squads that dispatch had received a report from a second resident that two unfamiliar-looking men, one black and the other Hispanic, were observed walking in the 6000 block of Wildlife Drive, approximately one mile east of the residence (26:26). The second resident spotted the men as they were cutting through "a side yard or neighbor's yard" (26:26).

The detective responded to the call, and eventually observed, from a distance of at least thirty feet, two individuals from behind walking south on Wildlife Drive (26:27, 34).The detective saw that the man later identified as Cherry was wearing a black jacket and black jeans, which appeared to be wet below the knees (26:28). The detective saw that the man later identified as Turner was wearing a black jacket and lighter-colored blue jeans, which were wet and muddy below the knees (26:28). From the condition of the suspects' jeans, the detective concluded that the men had probably walked through the swamp area between the residence and Wildlife Road (26:29). At his distance from the suspects, the detective could tell that Turner, who had dark-colored skin, was black, but could not determine Cherry's race, who had lighter-colored skin (26:40).

A lieutenant from the Hartford Police Department and a Sheriff's Department sergeant had also responded to the call (26:30). The lieutenant and sergeant stopped their marked vehicles a little ahead of the detective's minivan, and all three officers got out of their vehicles to approach the suspects from behind (26:30). From a distance of at least thirty feet, the lieutenant drew his gun and directed the men to get down on the ground (26:30, 34). At least one other officer had drawn his gun (a "long gun") as well (26:40). The suspects complied, and lay down on the ground (26:34).

The detective approached Cherry and put him in handcuffs and patted him down for weapons (26:30). The lieutenant did the same with Turner (26:30). No weapons

were found, and the suspects were placed in separate squad cars (26:31-32).

Then, before leaving the scene, the detective contacted a Detective Abbott, who was at the residence and had interviewed the female suspect (26:31). Detective Abbott relayed the female suspect's detailed description of the two men who had driven to the residence with her. One was a five foot, six inch, 150 to 155 pound black male, approximately 35 years of age, wearing a black jacket and black pants (26:31). The other was a six foot, 200 pound black male wearing a black jacket and black jogging pants (26:31).

### The Circuit Court's Ruling

In denying Cherry's suppression motion, the court relied on the testimony of Deputy Rewart and Detective Wolf at the hearing, accepting it as true.

In its oral ruling, the court initially proceeded on the assumption that the detention began as a temporary investigative stop, and addressed whether the manner in which the officers executed the temporary stop was reasonable under the circumstances (26:53-55). The court concluded the officers' tactics in this case—drawing their guns and ordering the suspects to get on the ground, and handcuffing the suspects prior to performing a pat-down for weapons—were reasonable where the victim homeowner had said that he kept unlocked guns in the residence (26:53-55).

The court addressed the various objective facts known to the officers and concluded that reasonable suspicion existed for a stop (26:55-56). The court stated that, in assessing whether a legal basis existed for the detention, the officers could assign significant weight to the fact that the race of the two men spotted on Wildlife Drive roughly matched the reported race of the suspects

because there were so few persons of that race in Washington County:

You know, the obvious and undisputed ethnicity of Washington County is overwhelming Caucasian. We all know that. There is nothing wrong with saying that; there is nothing wrong with the detectives and deputies and lieutenants who were investigating that considering that. A person—an African-American in Washington County, or if you see—if you report suspicious activity by African-Americans in Washington County, there simply aren't many African-Americans in Washington County. So, if you see two African-Americans in Washington County and have that information, it certainly is reasonable to, you know, consider that. And that was done here as well.

(26:56). The court also addressed the fact that the second caller had said that one of the men was Hispanic and the other was African American (26:54). Upon observing Cherry and Turner in the courtroom, the court found that Cherry was a lighter-skinned person of color, and that Turner had much darker skin, and that "a reasonable person could easily, easily conclude, based on a brief observation" that Cherry is Hispanic and Turner is African American (26:54).

The circuit court later also concluded that, even if the manner in which detention was executed was unreasonable for a temporary investigative stop under the circumstances, the objective facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts were strong enough in this case to give officers probable cause to arrest Cherry and Turner at the time of the initial detention (26:61-62).

2. Probable Cause Existed to Arrest Cherry When Officers Detained Him.

As noted, Cherry appears to argue that his detention was not supported by reasonable suspicion for a temporary investigative stop, or by probable cause for a

full-blown arrest (Cherry's br. at 8-9). Based on the undisputed hearing testimony, and the circuit court's findings of fact, the State submits that the objective facts and the reasonable inferences drawn from those facts gave officers probable cause to arrest Cherry when he was spotted walking with Turner on Wildlife Road.

The following facts were known to Detective Wolf and other law enforcement participating in the investigation and in contact with each other through the dispatcher.

From his squad computer, Detective Wolf learned that a citizen had reported that a suspicious car was backed into her neighbor's driveway, and that two black men had exited the car and gone behind the house, while a woman remained in the car (26:6-7, 22). The details of this call were verified by Deputy Rewarts, who arrived at the scene and found a car backed into the driveway, and received confirmation from the woman that the two men had gone to the back of the residence (26:8-9). deputy also noticed that the trunk of the vehicle was popped open, and discovered that the rear door to the garage was damaged with parts of the door mechanism strewn on the ground (26:8-9). Based on these objective facts, there was probable cause to believe that a burglary or attempted burglary had occurred at the residence, and that two black men were involved.

Soon after, Wolf learned via dispatch that a second caller had reported seeing two unfamiliar men, one black and the other Hispanic, cutting through a lawn and then walking on Wildlife Drive (26:26). From a distance of at least 30 feet, the detective later spotted the two men walking on Wildlife Drive (26:34). The detective saw that the pants worn by one of the men were wet below the knees, while the other man's pants were wet and muddy below the knees (26:28-29). An area native, the detective knew that a swampy, wooded area lay between the residence and Wildlife Drive, and drew the reasonable inference that the two men had recently walked through

the swamp (26:24, 29). The detective had estimated that the men were about one mile from the residence (26:29), and could reasonably determine that, from the initial 11:13 a.m. report of suspicious activity (26:5) to the present moment (sometime after noon, (26:20)), the men had sufficient time to cover the distance from the residence to Wildlife Road.

The detective could tell from where he was standing that one of the men was black, but could not determine the race of the other man, whether Hispanic or black (26:40). As noted, the court found that Cherry is a lighter-skinned African American, and that a reasonable person could conclude from a distance that Cherry was Hispanic (26:54).

Based on the foregoing, probable cause existed to believe that the man later identified as Cherry was involved in the burglary or attempted burglary at the residence. Upon spotting the men walking on Wildlife Drive, pants wet up to the knees (and muddy in Turner's case), officers drew the entirely reasonable inference that, in the hour or so since the suspected burglary, the men had fled the residence and walked through the swamp lying between the residence and Wildlife Drive. The men, as the circuit court noted, were not out "walking the dog on the road" (26:57). Neither were they wearing attire or carrying gear suggesting they had been hunting or birding in the nearby swamp. Rather, they were wearing mostly dark clothing associated with burglars, and were seen cutting through a yard before taking to the road. From a distance of at least 30 feet, the detective had a match on the suspects' race—he could tell that one man was black (Turner) and the other had lighter skin, and thus could have been either black, as the first caller stated, or Hispanic, as the second caller indicated. When the officers found two men matching the racial description of the suspects who appeared to have recently emerged from the adjacent swamp, the fact that no one else was seen walking in this rural area made it even more likely that Cherry and Turner were their suspected burglars. See State v. Flynn, 92 Wis. 2d 427, 434, 285 N.W.2d 710 (1979) (fact that no one else was on the street in area of suspected crime was relevant to whether legal basis existed for detention).

Taken together, these facts and reasonable inferences were sufficient for officers to have probable cause to believe that Cherry was involved in the suspected burglary of the residence.

These facts also demonstrate that Cherry was not, as he argues, detained simply because he is African American. He was lawfully detained because the totality of the circumstances—which included that he and Turner appeared to have just been walking through the swamp between the residence and the road, and that his race (and Turner's) roughly matched the description given by the two callers—gave officers probable cause to believe that he was involved in the suspected burglary.

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